JUL 1 3 2020

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 20-0183

CODY RYAN FIELDS,

V.

Plaintiff, Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

ROSS H. MELLINGER, individually and in his capacity as a Deputy within the Jackson County Sheriff's Department, TONY BOGGS, individually and in his capacity as the Sheriff of Jackson County, West Virginia, and the JACKSON COUNTY COMMISION d/b/a the JACKSON COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, a body politic,

Defendants, Respondents.

On Certified Question from the United States District Court for the Southern District Court of West Virginia

PETITIONER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons, (WV Bar No. 3406)
Luca D. DiPiero, (WV Bar No. 13756)

1.	PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	
	2.	THIS COURT RECOGNIZED A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, § 10 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION AND EXPRESSED THAT DAMAGES ARE A PROPER REMEDY	
		A. THIS COURT HAS NOT DETERMINED THAT THE LEGISLATURE MUST PROVIDE STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION IN ORDER TO REDRESS CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS WITH A DAMAGES REMEDY	
	3,	FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL PRECEDENT, ENGLISH COMMON LAW, AND THE RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS SUPPORT RECOGNITION OF AN ACTION FOR DAMAGES FOR VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6	
	4.	THE PRINCIPLES AND POLICY INTERESTS ARTICULATED IN BIVENS ON THE REMEDIES AVAILABLE FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT VIOLATIONS SUPPORT RECOGNITION OF A DAMAGES REMEDY	
	5.	MANY OTHER SUPREME STATE COURTS HAVE PROVIDED A DAMAGES REMEDY FOR CONSTITUTIONAL SEARCH AND SEIZURE VIOLATIONS	
	6.	New York's Highest Court Concluded that its Constitutional Provision Was self-executing and that Search and Seizure Violations should give rise to a Damages Remedy	
	7.	THE MARYLAND COURT OF APPEALS DETERMINED THAT ITS CONSTITUTION MUST OFFER COMPLETE REDRESS DESPITE THE AVAILABILITY OF 42 U.S.C. § 1983 AND OTHER REMEDIES FOR SEARCH AND SEIZURE VIOLATIONS	
		A. DAMAGES ARE THE ONLY MEANINGFUL RELIEF IN MANY INSTANCES OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 VIOLATIONS	
	8.	RECOGNITION OF A DAMAGES REMEDY FOR VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, SECTION 6 IS CONSISTENT WITH WEST VIRGINIA'S RIGOROUS CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTIONS	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
West Virginia cases:
Adkins v. Leverette, 161 W.Va. 14, 239 S.E.2d 496 (1977)
Barcus v. Austin, No. 1:17-CV-122, 2018 WL 4183213 (N.D. W. Va. 2018)
Fox v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 34 W.Va. 466, 12 S.E. 757 (1890)
Harrah v. Leverette, 165 W.Va. 665, 271 S.E.2d 322 (1980)
Hutchison v. City of Huntington, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996)
McMillion-Tolliver v. Kowalski, No. 2:13-CV-29533, 2014 WL 1329790 (S.D. W. Va. 2014)
Nutter v. Mellinger, No. 2:19-CV-00787, 2020 WL 401790 (S.D. W. Va. 2020)
Pauley v. Kelly, 162 W.Va. 672, 255 S.E.2d 859 (1979)
Ray v. Cutlip, No. 2:13-CV075, 2014 WL 858736 (N.D. W. Va. 2014)
Smoot v. Green, No. 2:13-10148, 2013 WL 5918753 (S.D. W. Va. 2013)
Spry v. West Virginia, No. 2:16-CV-01785, 2017 WL 440733 (S.D. W. Va. 2017)
State ex rel. Smith v. Gore, 150 W.Va. 71, 143 S.E.2d 791 (1965)

State v. Duvernoy, 156 W.Va. 578, 195 S.E.2d 631 (1973)	
State v. Mullens,	
221 W.Va. 70, 650 S.E.2d 169 (2007)	
West Virginia Lottery v. A-1 Amusement, Inc., 240 W.Va. 89, 807 S.E.2d 760 (2017)	
Wood v. Harshbarger, No. 3:13-21079, 2013 WL 5603243 (S.D. W. Va. 2013)	
Women's Health Center v. Panepinto, 191 W.Va. 436, 446 S.E.2d 658 (1993)	
Other Jurisdiction cases:	
Binette v. Sabo, 244 Conn. 23, 710 A.2d 688 (1998)	
Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents of the Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S.Ct. 1999 (1971)	
Boyd v. United States,	
116 U.S. 616, 6 S.Ct. 524, 29 L.Ed. 746 (1886)	
Brown v. State of New York, 89 N.Y. 172, 674 N.E.2d 1129 (1995)	
Dorwart v. Caraway,	
31 Mont. 1, 58 P.3d 128 (2002)	
Godfrey v. State, 898 N.W.2d 844, 848 (Iowa 2017)	
Huckle v. Money, 2 Wils. 205, 95 Eng. Rep. 768 (1763)	
Marbury v. Madison, 1 Cranch 137, 5 U.S. 137 (1803)	
Moresi v. State Through Dept. of Wildlife and Fisheries, 567 So.2d 1081 (La. 1990)	

Old Tuckaway Associates Ltd Partnership v. City of Greenfield, 180 Wis.2d 254, 508 N.W. 323 (1993)	
Strauss v. State,	
131 N.J. Super. 571, 330 A.2d 646 (1971)	
Widgeon v. Eastern Shore Hosp. Center, 300 Md. 520, 479 A.2d 921 (1984)	
Wilkes v. Woods, Lofft's 1, 98 Eng.Rep. 489 (1763)	
Wyatt v. Cole, 504 U.S. 158, 112 S.Ct. 1827, 118 L.Ed.2d 504 (1992)	
Zullo v. State, 209 Vt. 298, 205 A.3d 466 (2019)	
Statutes:	
42 U.S.C. § 1983	
W.Va. Code §2-1-1	
Miscellaneous:	
BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1526 (8th ed. 2004)	
Gail Donoghue & Jonathan I. Edelstein, Life After Brown: The Future of State Constitutional Tort Actions in New York, 42 N.Y.L. SCH. L. REV. 447 (1998)	
Gary S. Gildin, Redressing Deprivations of Rights Secured by State Constitutions Outside the Shaow of the Supreme Court's Constitutional Remedies Jurisprudence,	
115 PENN St. L. Rev. 877 (2011)	
RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 874A	
T. Hunter Jefferson, Constitutional Wrongs and Common Law Principles:	
The Case for the Recognition of State Constitutional Tort Actions against	
State Governments, 50 VANDERBILT L. REV. 1525 (1997)	

1 2

I. QUESTION PRESENTED

On March 3, 2020, Judge Johnston of the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, Charleston Division, submitted the following Certified Question to this Court:

Does West Virginia recognize a private right of action for monetary damages for violations of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution?

Petitioner, Cody Ryan Fields, respectfully requests this Honorable Court to answer the Certified Question in the affirmative.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 2, 2019, Plaintiff Cody Ryan Fields filed his Complaint in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia against Defendants Ross H. Mellinger, both individually and in his official capacity as a Jackson County Sheriff's Deputy; Tony Boggs both individually and in his official capacity as the Sheriff of Jackson County; and the Jackson County Commission d/b/a Jackson County Sheriff's Department. (JA at 1-10). Plaintiff alleges that on or about September 20, 2017, Defendant Mellinger, among others, were executing a search warrant at a residence located at 298 Maplewood Heights Rd. in Jackson County, West Virginia. (JA at 2).

At the time of the incident, Plaintiff alleges that he was standing in a detached garage adjacent to the residence with open bay doors and as Defendant Mellinger approached the garage, Plaintiff had his hands raised and was bending at the waist to get on the ground. (JA at 2-3). As Plaintiff was bending down, Defendant Mellinger allegedly struck Plaintiff in the face with the

butt end of a shotgun. (JA at 2). Plaintiff was charged with obstructing an officer and simple possession of a controlled substance. (JA at 3).

Plaintiff asserts that Defendant Mellinger as well as J.M. Comer and C.C. Metz submitted written reports to Defendant Boggs and Katie Franklin, Prosecuting Attorney, to mitigate the alleged excessive force utilized against him. (JA at 8). Plaintiff asserts that he made repeated attempts to have a suppression hearing on the underlying charges, however each time the state's witnesses were unavailable. (JA at 3-4). Accordingly, the charges were dismissed. (Id.). Plaintiff further asserts that the Jackson County Commission implemented customs, policies or official or unofficial acts which led to the injury claimed by Plaintiff and failed to provide reasonable means of supervision of Deputy Mellinger despite having knowledge of his propensity or pattern or practice of violence. (JA at 7).

Plaintiff's Complaint asserts claims against Deputy Mellinger for violation of Article III, Sections 6, 10, and 17 of the West Virginia Constitution; negligence; battery; excessive force pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; *Monell* and Supervisory Liability claims pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 against Sheriff Boggs and the Jackson County Commission "d/b/a" Jackson County Sheriff's Department; and unlawful conspiracy pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1985. (JA at 1-8).

In Defendants' Partial Motion to Dismiss filed August 16, 2019, Defendants moved the district court to dismiss certain claims set forth in Plaintiff's Complaint, including Plaintiff's claims for violation of Article III, Sections 6, 10, and 17. (JA at 12-14). After the parties submitted their corresponding briefs (JA at 16-46), the district court entered an order (JA at 48-52) requesting that this Court exercise its certification jurisdiction on the present question.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question presented is whether West Virginia recognizes a private right of action for monetary damages for violations of Article III, § 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. Petitioner contends that the question is expressed more effectively as follows: whether the West Virginia Constitution is empowered to provide complete relief to individuals harmed by government agents, or whether West Virginia's fundamental declaration of rights relies on other sources to vindicate constitutional wrongs.

West Virginia was one of the first states in the nation to acknowledge a private right of action for violations of its constitution's due process guarantees. Syl. Pt. 2, *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996) (recognizing a private cause of action where a municipality or local governmental unit causes injury by denying that person rights that are protected by the Due Process Clause embodied within Article 3, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution). In *Hutchison*, this Court emphasized that "the only realistic avenue for vindication of statutory and constitutional guarantees when public servants abuse their offices is an action for damages." *Id.* at 158, 658 (emphasis added).

As the West Virginia Constitution is the "paramount law" of our state, the West Virginia Judiciary is empowered to enforce appropriate remedies whenever its tenets are violated. *State ex rel. Smith v. Gore*, 150 W.Va. 71, 77, 143 S.E.2d 791, 795 (1965). This Court has never determined that the West Virginia Legislature must provide statutory authorization in order for the courts to redress constitutional violations with a damages remedy.

The present issue has come to this Court's attention because the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia has, on few occasions, misinterpreted this Court's decision in *Harrah v. Leverette*, 165 W.Va. 665, 271 S.E.2d 322 (1980), and concluded that an

independent statute is necessary to authorize money damages.for violations of the West Virginia Constitution. See McMillion-Tolliver v. Kowalski, No. 2:13-CV-29533, 2014 WL 1329790 at *2 (S.D. W. Va. 2014). In fact, Harrah contains no language restricting this Court's authority to afford damages relief to victims of constitutional violations. On the contrary, the Harrah court determined that victims of cruel and unusual punishment in violation of Article III, § 5 were, among other remedies, entitled to a "civil action in tort," which would commonly offer the recovery the damages. Syl Pts. 3 & 4, Harrah, 165 W.Va. at 666, 271 S.E.2d at 324.

Further, recognizing a damages remedy is consistent with West Virginia's tradition of rigorously protecting its citizens' liberty interests against unlawful search and seizure beyond the protections afforded by the Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. See State v. Mullens, 221 W.Va. 70, 89, 650 S.E.2d 169, 188 (2007) (holding that Article III, § 6 includes broader search and seizure protections than the Fourth Amendment). As the U.S. Supreme Court has determined that violations of the Fourth Amendment give rise to an action for damages, Respondents contend that this Court should apply Article III, § 6 in a manner that fails to meet the Fourth Amendment's "floor" of protections and is plainly incompatible with West Virginia's more stringent restrictions. See Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents of the Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388, 91 S.Ct. 1999 (1971) (holding that violations of the Fourth Amendment give rise to a damages remedy).

Finally, many state courts of highest jurisdiction have acknowledged that their respective constitutions are independently empowered to provide a damages remedy in the absence of enabling legislation, relating to violations of search and seizure provisions as well as other constitutional provisions where the victim's rights cannot otherwise be adequately vindicated. See Sec. 5 infra.

For the reasons set forth in this Brief, Petitioner contends that providing a damages remedy for Article III, § 6 violations is consistent with West Virginia common law, federal constitutional precedent, and the purposes underlying the West Virginia Constitution as a guarantor of its citizens' fundamental liberties.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioner requests that this Court select this case for Rule 20 argument. Petitioner states that oral argument would be beneficial in this case as the issue of whether the West Virginia Constitution affords complete remedial protections for violations of Article III, § 6 is of fundamental importance to the public in clarifying the extent to which citizens may vindicate their civil liberties to privacy and security. Moreover, the issue is proper for oral argument as it has been the subject of much disagreement among West Virginia's federal courts. Regarding R.A.P. 18(a), Petitioner asserts that this issue has never been authoritatively decided, and oral argument would significantly aid this Court's decisional process as the legal arguments herein presented reference a broad range of authorities from foreign jurisdictions. Petitioner further requests that this Court decide the case on the merits by issuing an opinion authored by one of the Justices rather than through a memorandum opinion.

V. ARGUMENT

1. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Cody Ryan Fields, submits his Petitioner's Brief with regard to the Certified Question submitted by the United States District Court of the Southern District of West Virginia.

Does West Virginia recognize a private right of action for monetary damages for violations of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution?

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court answer the question in the affirmative.

2. THIS COURT RECOGNIZED A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR VIOLATIONS OF ARTICLE III, § 10 OF THE WEST VIRGINIA CONSTITUTION AND EXPRESSED THAT DAMAGES ARE A PROPER REMEDY.

As a threshold matter, recognition of a damages remedy in the present context would not constitute the first time that this Court acknowledged a private right of action arising directly under Article III of the West Virginia Constitution. This Court has long acknowledged a direct action for damages for violations of Article III, § 9, i.e., the clause prohibiting the State's taking of private property without just compensation. See, e.g., Fox v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 34 W.Va. 466, 12 S.E. 757 (1890). As Article III establishes a broad variety of civil liberties, damages are not appropriate as a remedial mechanism for each of its provisions. The nature of the acts protected within a constitutional provision informs what remedies are necessary to vindicate the victim of a constitutional deprivation. However, this Court has determined that a constitutional provision need not include language of "just compensation" or "damages" to infer a private right of action for monetary relief.

In a highly cited unanimous opinion by Justice Cleckley, this Court concluded that the West Virginia Constitution independently provides a cause of action for violations of its Due

Process Clause. In Syllabus Point 2 of *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996), this Court established the following:

Unless barred by one of the recognized statutory, constitutional or common law immunities, a private cause of action exists where a municipality or local governmental unit causes injury by denying that person rights that are protected by the Due Process Clause embodied within Article 3, § 10 of the West Virginia Constitution.

In *Hutchison*, a landowner claimed that the City of Huntington deprived him of his property interests in violation of Article 3, § 10. *Id.* at 147, 657. The landowner had incurred significant costs from the city's initial refusal to issue him a building permit. *Id.*

Justice Cleckley reasoned that direct constitutional claims were necessary to vindicate the rights of individuals harmed by government action, and "[t]o suggest otherwise, would make our constitutional guarantees of due process and empty illusion." Id. at 150, 660 (emphasis added). To prove a claim under Article 3, § 10, this Court established "[a]s under [42 U.S.C.] § 1983, the plaintiff must show (1) that there was a constitutional violation, and (2) that the claim is not barred by an applicable immunity." Id.

The Hutchison court further concluded that damages were an appropriate, if not the predominant, type of relief for remedying constitutional violations. "Indeed, the only realistic avenue for vindication of statutory and constitutional guarantees when public servants abuse their offices is an action for damages." Id. at 158, 658. Moreover, having modeled the prima facie elements of a state constitutional claim after a 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action, the same policy interests that the Court emphasized under the federal claim should inform the relief available to state constitutional claims. "The purpose of § 1983 is to deter state actors from using the badge of their authority to deprive individuals of their federal guaranteed rights and to provide relief to victims

if such deterrence fails... the goals of § 1983 urge availability of damages" *Id.* (citing *Wyatt v. Cole*, 504 U.S. 158, 161, 112 S.Ct. 1827, 1830, 118 L.Ed.2d 504 (1992)) (emphasis added).

Since *Hutchison*, the question of whether the West Virginia Constitution affords private causes of action involving other Article III provisions has become an area of confusion. *See Spry v. West Virginia*, No. 2:16-CV-01785, 2017 WL 440733 at *9 (S.D. W. Va. 2017) (memorandum decision) ("The *Hutchison* court did not address whether its holding was limited to § 10 or, alternatively, applied to other rights enshrined in Article III.").

On several occasions, West Virginia's federal courts have interpreted *Hutchison* to recognize constitutional claims for violations of provisions other than Article III, § 10. See Ray v. Cutlip, No. 2:13-CV-75, 2014 WL 858736 at *3-4 (N.D. W. Va. 2014) (recognizing plaintiff's claims for violations of Article III, §§ 1, 5, 6, and 10 to the extent predicated upon allegations of excessive force); Wood v. Harshbarger, No. 3:13-21079, 2013 WL 5603243 at *6-8 (S.D. W. Va. 2013) (memorandum decision) (finding plaintiffs had alleged sufficient facts to state a constitutional claim under Article III, § 5); Barcus v. Austin, 2018 WL 4183213 at *5-6 (N.D. W. Va. 2018) (memorandum decision) (dismissing plaintiffs' claims under Article III, §§ 7, 10 and 11 for failing to plead sufficient facts but recognizing private causes of action for state constitutional violations pursuant to Hutchison).

On other occasions, the federal courts have concluded that claims for money damages are not available to remedy violations of Article III. See Nutter v. Mellinger, No. 2:19-CV-00787, 2020 WL 401790 at *6 (S.D. W. Va. 2020) (memorandum decision); Smoot v. Green, No. 2:13-10148, 2013 WL 5918753 at *4–5 (S.D. W. Va. 2013) (memorandum decision) (concluding that Article III violations do not give rise to claims for money damages); McMillion-Tolliver v. Kowalski, No. 2:13-cv-29533, 2014 WL 1329790 at *2 (S.D. W. Va. 2014) (memorandum decision) ("Without an independent statute authorizing money damages for violations of the West Virginia Constitution,

the plaintiff's claim must fail."). Notably, none of the courts that denied the availability of a damages remedy has referenced *Hutchison* in rendering these opinions. Rather, these decisions relied predominantly upon *Harrah v. Leverette*, 165 W.Va. 665, 271 S.E.2d 322 (1980).

A. THIS COURT HAS NOT DETERMINED THAT THE LEGISLATURE MUST PROVIDE STATUTORY AUTHORIZATION IN ORDER TO REDRESS CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS WITH A DAMAGES REMEDY.

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