No. 20-0183



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CODY RYAN FIELDS, Plaintiff, Petitioner,

٧.

ROSS H. MELLINGER, Individually and in his capacity as a Deputy of the Jackson County Sheriff's Department; TONY BOGGS, Individually and in his capacity as the Sheriff of Jackson County, West Virginia; and the JACKSON COUNTY COMMISSION, doing business as the Jackson County Sheriff's Department.

Defendants, Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS, ROSS H. MELLINGER, TONY BOGGS, AND THE JACKSON COUNTY COMMISSION

Wendy E. Greve, WV State Bar No. 6599

wgreve@pffwv.com

Drannon L. Adkins, WV State Bar No. 11384

dadkins@pffwv.com

Pullin, Fowler, Flanagan, Brown & Poe, PLLC

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court need not imply a direct cause of action for money damages under Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution, especially when the basis for the purported cause of action is excessive force. In <u>Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents</u>, ²⁰ the United States Supreme Court authorized a direct cause of action against federal officials under the U.S. Constitution, it did so because of the existence of 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides for a general right to sue for violation of the U.S. Constitution. That statute authorizes suits against persons acting under color of state law but did not authorize suits against federal officials. Because of the disparity, the Court in <u>Bivens</u> created an implied right of action against federal officials. West Virginia, however, does not have a state-analogue to §1983.

Moreover, in recent years, the U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected requests to extend <u>Bivens</u>. Those cases indicate that implied causes of action are unnecessary when alternative remedies are available. West Virginia recognizes common-law torts that provide alternative remedies, including assault and battery; negligent hiring, training, supervision and retention; and false arrest and imprisonment. Thus, as there are alternative remedies already available, several of which were alleged in this case, there is no need to create an implied cause of action under Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution.

¹⁸ J.A. 48

¹⁹ J.A. 48-52.

²⁰ Bivens, 403 U.S. 388.

Because the West Virginia Legislature has not enacted a state analogue to §1983, creation of an implied cause of action under the West Virginia Constitution implicates the separation of powers doctrine. Our tripartite form of government requires that each branch refrain from exercising the authority of its sister branches. Creation of a cause of action for state constitutional torts should be undertaken by the branch responsible for weighing the costs and benefits of such a policy change.

Finally, state constitutional tort claims are not permissible against political subdivisions because the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act only permits negligence-based claims against political subdivisions and constitutional tort claims in general—and excessive force claims in particular—require an intentional act on the part of an official. While the Tort Claims Act contains an exclusion for claims arising under the United States Constitution, it does not contain such an exclusion for claims arising under the West Virginia Constitution. The West Virginia Legislature could have excluded state constitutional claims from coverage in the Tort Claims Act but chose not to do so.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

By Order entered on April 20, 2020, this Court noted that this matter would be set for oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 during the September 2020 Term of Court. The date of such oral argument has yet to be set.

V. ARGUMENT

There is no legislative authority that gives a plaintiff the ability to recover monetary damages against a political subdivision, or law enforcement officials for an alleged violation of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution. To the contrary, this

Court has implied that constitutional tort actions against political subdivisions are barred by the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act.²¹

Additionally, because causes of action and remedies for acts of law enforcement officials already exist in West Virginia, which obviates the need for implying direct causes of action under the West Virginia Constitution. Such causes of action and remedies are more than adequate to provide compensation for plaintiffs who seek relief from law enforcement officials, and recognition of a new species of claims will do nothing except force litigants and the courts to expend their precious time and resources litigating claims which ultimately seek duplicative relief of claims already in existence.

Finally, creation of a new cause of action for alleged violations of Article III, Section 6 would violate the separation of powers doctrine in that the Legislature has not authorized such actions.

A. No Direct Cause of Action Should be Implied Under Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia Constitution

The District Court certified this question in order to put to rest the issue of whether an implied cause of action exists for claims of violations of Article III, Section 6 of the West Virginia. This Court should join with those states that have refused to recognize an implied cause of action under their respective state constitutions.

State courts across the country have split on whether citizens can bring claims under certain provisions of their state constitutions in the absence of legislative authorization.²² Courts which have rejected implied causes of action under their

²¹ Syl. Pt. 2, Hutchison v. City of Huntington, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996).

²² See, Jennifer Freisen, <u>State Constitutional Law: Litigating Individual Rights, Claims and Defenses</u>, § 7.07 (noting that "[s]tate courts are about evenly divided on whether state law should ever recognize an implied cause of action for damages directly under a state constitutional guarantee.").

respective constitutions have based their decisions on separation of powers, application of immunity defenses, tort claims acts, as well as the availability of alternative remedies. This is the approach Respondents urge the Court to adopt and is consistent with the federal district court decisions from both the Southern and Northern Districts have held that money damages are not available for alleged violations of the West Constitution.²³ The states that have recognized direct causes of action under their constitutions have premised their decisions on two primary sources: the United States Supreme Court's <u>Bivens</u>²⁴ decision, and the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 874A (1979).

The Court Should Refuse to Create Bivens-type Remedy

Plaintiffs seeking to prosecute an implied cause of action under state constitutions have relied most often on <u>Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents</u>.²⁵ In <u>Bivens</u>, the Supreme Court held that a federal cause of action under the Fourth Amendment existed, with damages recoverable against the federal agents upon proof that the violation occurred.²⁶ To reach this conclusion, the Court noted that while "the Fourth Amendment does not in so many words provide for its enforcement by an award of money damages for the consequences of its violation[,] ... where legal rights have been invaded, and a

²³ Nutter v. Mellinger, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11417, at *17-19 (S.D.W.Va. 2020) (holding that "private plaintiff cannot bring a claim for damages under Article III, § 6 of the West Virginia Constitution when there is not an independent statute authorizing such a cause of action."); Jones v. White, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93952, at *19 (N.D.W.Va. 2018) (noting that "the West Virginia Constitution does not contain any provision allowing for monetary damages as a result of alleged state constitutional violations."); Howard v. Ballard, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41225, at *10 (S.D.W.Va. 2015) (holding Article III, § 5 does not independently give rise to claims for money damages); McMillion-Tolliver v. Kowalski, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44365, at *6 (S.D.W.Va. 2014) (finding that "[w]ithout an independent statute authorizing money damages for violations of the West Virginia Constitution, the plaintiff's claim must fail."); Smoot v. Green, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 156887, at *12 (S.D. W. Va. 2013) ("[The defendants] assert that Article III of the West Virginia Constitution does not give rise to claims for money damages against them. They are correct.").

²⁴ Bivens v. Six Unknown Federal Narcotics Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971).

²⁵ Bivens, 403 U.S. 388.

²⁶ ld. at 395-396.

federal statute provides for a general right to sue for such invasion, federal courts may use any available remedy to make good the wrong done."27

Of course, at the time <u>Bivens</u> was decided, there was a federal statute, 42 U.S.C. §1983, that existed which provided for a general right to sue for a violation of the Fourth Amendment; however, it did not provide a remedy for violations by federal officials. Thus, the thrust of <u>Bivens</u> is that it simply "expanded the remedy available under Section 1983 to address the wrong done by the federal officers."²⁸ The <u>Bivens</u> Court expanded the §1983 remedy because there was no other adequate federal legislative or administrative remedy, and there were "no special factors counseling hesitation in the absence of affirmative action by Congress."²⁹

In the years since <u>Bivens</u> was decided, the Court has only permitted expansion of the <u>Bivens</u>-type remedy twice: once for action against federal officer for violation of Fifth Amendment for sex discrimination against a congressional employee;³⁰ and another for an action against federal officer for violation of Eighth Amendment for failure to provide proper medical attention to a federal inmate.³¹ However, the Court has since expressed its determination that implied constitutional causes of action are "disfavored."³²

Post-<u>Bivens</u> cases show that the availability of alternative remedies counsels against implying a cause of action. For instance, in <u>Bush v. Lucas</u>, ³³ the Supreme Court declined to create a new non-statutory damages remedy where comprehensive procedural and substantive policies already provided meaningful remedies. There, a

²⁷ Id. at 396 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

²⁸ Jones v. City of Phila., 890 A.2d 1188, 1210 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2006).

²⁹ Bivens, 403 U.S. at 396.

³⁰ Davis v. Passman, 442 U.S. 228 (1979).

³¹ Carlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14 (1980).

³² Ashcroft v. lqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 675 (2009).

³³ Bush v. Lucas, 462 U.S. 367 (1983).

federal employee alleged he had been demoted for publicly criticizing his employer, in violation of the First Amendment, and sought damages through use of <u>Bivens</u>. The Court refused to create a cause of action, in large part, because of the "elaborate, comprehensive scheme," including administrative and judicial procedures, which were in place to protect federal civil servants.³⁴ While acknowledging that the available administrative remedies did not "provide complete relief for the plaintiff," the Court cautioned that:

The question is not what remedy the court should provide for a wrong that would otherwise go unredressed. It is whether an elaborate remedial system that has been constructed step by step, with careful attention to conflicting policy considerations, should be augmented by the creation of a new judicial remedy for the constitutional violation at issue. That question obviously cannot be answered simply by noting that existing remedies do not provide complete relief for the plaintiff.³⁶

Importantly, the Supreme Court was "convinced that Congress is in a better position to decide whether or not the public interest would be served by creating [the remedy requested]."37

Similarly, in <u>Schweiker v. Chilicky</u>, ³⁸ the Court again refused to extend a <u>Bivens-</u> remedy to Social Security recipients whose benefits had been terminated improperly in violation of the Due Process Clause. In doing so, the Court noted that "the absence of statutory relief for a constitutional violation . . . does not by any means necessarily imply that courts should award money damages against the officers responsible for the

³⁴ ld. at 385.

³⁵ ld. at 388.

³⁶ ld.

³⁷ ld. at 390.

³⁸ Schweiker v. Chilicky, 462 U.S. 412 (1988).

violation."39 Thus, the Court rejected the claim that a Bivens remedy should be implied simply for want of any other means for challenging a constitutional deprivation in federal court.40

Several states have determined that the availability of alternative remedies also counsels against implying a state-law <u>Biven-type claim.</u> In <u>St. Luke Hospital v. Staub</u>, the plaintiff brought suit for money damages for violation of the Kentucky Constitution, as well as claims for false imprisonment, false arrest, outrage, and assault and battery. During the appeal, the plaintiff argued that the court should create a <u>Bivens-type</u> action for violations of the Kentucky Constitution. In rejecting the plaintiff's argument, the Kentucky Supreme Court noted that "traditional tort actions" meant that other remedies were available such that the Court did not need to recognize a new species of tort claims.

³⁹ ld. at 421-422.

⁴⁰ ld. at 425.

⁴¹ State v. Heisey, 271 P.3d 1082 (Alaska 2012) (holding that an alternative remedy may include federal remedies, such as a §1983 claim, even if such remedy is no longer available); Jones v. City of Philadelphia, 890 A.2d 1188, 1212 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 2006) (holding that "[t]he remedy for monetary damages under Section 1983 for violation of the Fourth Amendment is, therefore, an alternative remedy."); Katzberg v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 58 P.3d 339, 356 (Cal. 2002) (reasoning that the availability of adequate alternative remedies "militates against judicial creation of" a constitutional remedy); Shields v. Gerhart, 658 A.2d 924, 933 (Vt. 1995) ("We have been cautious in creating a private damage remedy even where the Legislature has provided no alternative civil remedy."); Board of County Commissioners v. Sundheim, 926 P.2d 545, 549-53 (Colo. 1996) (holding that alleged state due process violation in context of zoning decision was sufficiently redressable by means of claim under § 1983 and by judicial review of administrative decisions pursuant to state rule of civil procedure); St. Luke Hospital v. Straub, 354 S.W.3d 519 (Ky. 2011) (declining to create a Biven-type action where Plaintiff also allege traditional tort actions, including false imprisonment, false arrest, the tort of outrage, and assault and battery); Cantrell v. Morris, 849 N.E.2d 488, 506 (Ind. 2006) (finding it "unnecessary to find a state constitutional tort" where "state tort law is generally available" even if restricted by a tort claims act); Provens v. Stark Ctv. Bd. of Mental Retardation & Developmental Disabilities, 594 N.E.2d 959, 965 (Ohio 1992) (refusing to create a Bivens remedy because plaintiff had other remedies available).

⁴² Staub, 354 S.W.3d at 533.

⁴³ ld. at 536-537.

⁴⁴ ld. at 537.

In State v. Heisey, the Alaska Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether a state constitutional tort claim for damages existed for an inmate allegedly injured at the hands of correctional officers.45 The Court noted that under Bivens, a plaintiff must establish two elements: (1) that alternative remedies do not exist; and (2) that the constitutional violation was flagrant.46 The Court rejected the plaintiff's argument that §1983 could not be considered as an alternative remedy because it only applied to violations of the federal constitution, reasoning that "federal constitutional claims may provide adequate remedies for state constitutional violations. 47 The Court further noted that "[t]he U.S. Supreme Court held that where state tort law remedies are available, a Bivens action will not be recognized in federal court."48 The Court further rejected the argument that the Alaska Constitution provided broader protections than its federal counterpart because "an alternative remedy need not be an exact match." The Court also rejected the argument that even if a §1983 is barred or dismissed, it still precluded a state constitutional tort because "[t]he existence of the remedy itself is enough to block a Bivens-type action, even if procedurally that remedy is no longer available."50

The Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court also determined that the availability of a §1983 claim counseled against implying a state constitutional tort in <u>Jones v. City of Philadelphia.⁵¹ In Jones</u>, the plaintiff filed a constitutional tort claim under the State's search and seizure provision against defendant officers for the alleged use of excessive

⁴⁵ Heisey, 271 P.3d at 1083-1084.

⁴⁶ ld. at 1096.

⁴⁷ Id

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